STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

09-19-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 18 AP 1154 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

KATHRYN M. COOPER,

Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON JUNE 13, 2018, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PORTAGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TODD WOLF PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

KATHRYN M. COOPER, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

BY: TEUTA JONUZI

State Bar No. 1098168

BY: SARAH M. SCHMEISER

State Bar No. 1037381

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR WHEN IT HELD THE OFFICER'S WARRANTLESS ENTRY INTO MS. COOPER'S HOME WAS LAWFUL?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR WHEN IT HELD THAT THE STATE SATISFIED ITS BURDEN OF DEMONSTRATING MS. COOPER VOLUNTARILY CONSENTED TO THE BLOOD DRAW?

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a one-judge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 5, 2017, Sergeant Michael Retzki (Sgt. Retzki) of the Stevens Point Police Department responded to a call of a single vehicle which struck a light pole. Dispatch stated a license plate had been left at the scene. The license plate came back to Kathryn Cooper. Retzki went to Fourth Avenue, the street on which Ms. Cooper lived. Once in her neighborhood, Sgt. Retzki made contact with the 9-1-1 caller, who stated he had witnessed the accident, and pointed Sgt. Retzki in the direction of Ms. Cooper's residence. Sgt. Retzki observed that the vehicle parked in Ms. Cooper's driveway had visible damage and was leaking fluid, consistent with being involved in a recent accident.

At this point, Sgt. Retzki walked onto the back porch towards the back door.⁷ He saw Ms. Cooper walking around in her kitchen.⁸ Sgt. Retzki testified he knocked on the door and Ms. Cooper waved at him to come in.⁹ He entered her home, walking two to three feet

¹ R.62 at 4–5.

² R.62 at 5.

³ R.62 at 5–6.

⁴ R.62 at 6.

⁵ R.62 at 6.

⁶ R.62 at 7.

⁷ R.62 at 7.

⁸ R.62 at 7.

⁹ R.62 at 8; R.62 at 13.

into the kitchen.¹⁰ Ms. Cooper did not say anything to him.¹¹ He did not identify himself as a police officer.¹² Sgt. Retzki told Ms. Cooper he was investigating an accident, informed her that her vehicle was damaged, and asked her if she recalled being in an accident.¹³

Shortly thereafter, Officer Dana Krzykowski arrived at the residence and stood on Ms. Cooper's back porch. ¹⁴ Sgt. Retzki made eye contact with the officer, and Sgt. Retzki waved him in, opening the door to Ms. Cooper's home. ¹⁵ Officer Krzykowski then began questioning Ms. Cooper about the accident. ¹⁶ Officer Krzykowski took Ms. Cooper outside to perform field sobriety testing. ¹⁷ Ms. Cooper was reluctant to participate in the police's investigation, and repeatedly stated that she wanted to walk away and go back into her house. ¹⁸ Eventually, Ms. Cooper's husband was able to convince her to submit to field sobriety testing. ¹⁹ Ms. Cooper also would behave bizarrely, at one point bursting into laughter. ²⁰ After Officer Kryzkowski administered field sobriety testing, he arrested Ms.

_

¹⁰ R.62 at 8.

¹¹ R.62 at 8.

¹² R.62 at 13.

¹³ R.62 at 14.

¹⁴ R.62 at 8.

¹⁵ R.62 at 8–9; R.62 at 18.

¹⁶ R.62 at 19.

¹⁷ R.62 at 23–24.

¹⁸ R.62 at 23–24.

¹⁹ R.62 at 23.

²⁰ R.62 at 24.

Cooper for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant.²¹ Ms. Cooper was handcuffed and placed in the back seat of the squad car.²²

Officer Kryzkowski then read her the Informing the Accused form.²³ Ms. Cooper gave an affirmative response and agreed to submit to the blood draw.²⁴ Ms. Cooper's blood alcohol concentration that evening was .330 g/mL.²⁵

On February 10, 2017, the Portage County District Attorney's Office charged Ms. Cooper with operating while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, both as third offenses.²⁶ On May 5, 2017, Ms. Cooper moved to suppress the test result based on a lack of constitutional consent.²⁷ She also moved to suppress all evidence derived from the police's unlawful entry into her home.²⁸

On December 15, 2017, the circuit court, the Honorable Todd Wolf presiding, heard testimony and argument on Ms. Cooper's motions. Afterwards, the court ruled. It denied both Ms. Cooper's

²² R.62 at 21.

²¹ R.62 at 19.

²³ R.62 at 20–21.

²⁴ R.62 at 21.

²⁵ R.62 at 25.

²⁶ R.2.

²⁷ R.19.

²⁸ R.20.

motions.²⁹ When addressing Ms. Cooper's unlawful entry motion, the court stated:

[Sgt. Retzki] indicated he was on duty, he was responding to this as a law enforcement officer[.]... I don't even know if there has to be a necessity that she has to know it's an officer... [Sgt. Retzki] is in an area that he was invited into. Another officer arriving then and coming to that same location, it wasn't that Officer [Kryzkowski] then went to some other location and [Sgt.] Retzki wasn't already there, so I don't find any evidence here to indicate that this was an unlawful entry by the officers then, and the motion regarding the entry is denied.³⁰

When the circuit court moved onto the issue of whether constitutional consent to the blood draw existed, it first addressed *State v. Brar*, and declared that the lead opinion in the *Brar* case stated:

[T]hat there's obviously the presumption that when someone got their license, that they were consenting to a draw, which is why under the implied consent law, and I haven't seen anything that has changed that, if someone is unconscious and that, it normally can be drawn because of that presumption under the implied consent law. . . [U]pon the officer reading the Informing the Accused form, that . . . by reading that form, gives someone the opportunity then to withdraw their previously given consent.³¹

³⁰ R.62 at 33–34; 35.

²⁹ R.62 at 35; 42.

³¹ R.62 at 36–37, referencing *State v. Brar*, 2017 WI 73, 376 Wis. 2d 685, 898 N.W.2d 499.

The circuit court also referenced the concurring opinion in **Brar** as it addressed voluntary consent, which required the circuit court to:

[L]ook at the totality of the circumstances . . . [W]hether there was deception, trickery, misrepresentation . . . sleep deprivation, food deprivation, age of the person, the intelligence, any physical or emotional conditions that go on[.]³²

When addressing the voluntariness analysis in Ms. Cooper's case, the circuit court stated:

I didn't find any reason here that there has been any evidence that she was - had any sort of trickery or deception or misrepresentation. The officer indicated he went through the Informing the Accused verbatim, and that there was no indication and no contrary evidence to say that she didn't at that point in time agree[.] [This] is a continuation of her previous implied consent here, and that there was no indication she was deprived of any sleep or food or anything such as that. There is [sic] issues regarding her intoxication[.] . . . [I]f the Court would start applying that as a substantial factor in the voluntariness, it's going to be a situation where it is an after-the-fact situation and puts an officer in an untenable situation each and every time they are doing that to try to figure out themselves of what kind of situation a person is [in]. . . [S]o I don't find that under the totality of the circumstances The Court can rely heavily on an after-the-fact test score that comes in. There was no indication [to] the officers on that night that she wasn't able to understand what she was being read. She answered the question. There was no hesitation. She wished to talk to her husband, was brought out by the officer, a very rational thing someone might ask to do, which . . . was part of the reason she was willing to perform testing. They went through the testing procedure. The officers appeared to do nothing to deceive or trick

٠

³² R.62 at 38–39.

her, and for all of those reasons and [Brar] majority opinion here, I do find that the consent was voluntary[.]³³

On June 13, 2018, Ms. Cooper pled guilty to operating while under the influence of an intoxicant, third offense.³⁴ That same day, the court pronounced sentence.³⁵

On June 18, 2018, Ms. Cooper appealed her conviction to this Court.³⁶

³³ R.62 at 40–41.

³⁴ R.40; R.41. ³⁵ R.41.

³⁶ R.52.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE ENTRY INTO MS. COOPER'S HOME WAS LAWFUL.

A. Standard of Review

Whether a search is valid under the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional law reviewed *de novo*.³⁷ Appellate courts uphold findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous.³⁸

B. Ms. Cooper did not consent to Sgt. Retzki entering her home.

The Fourth Amendment provides for "[t]he right of people to be secure in their . . . houses . . . against *unreasonable* searches and seizures." When a police officer enters a person's home to search, he or she needs a warrant based upon probable cause or an exception to the warrant requirement. One possible exception is consent to a search.³⁹ Another exception to the warrant requirement is probable cause and exigent circumstances.⁴⁰ Exigent circumstances may be hot pursuit, a threat to the safety of a person, a risk of evidence being destroyed, or the likelihood that the suspect will flee.⁴¹

³⁷ State v. Guzman, 166 Wis. 2d 577, 586, 48 N.W.2d 446 (1992).

³⁸ State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis.2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.

³⁹ Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973).

⁴⁰ State v. Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 19, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W. 2d 187.

⁴¹ State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 29, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29.

The intrusion into Ms. Cooper's home was neither justified by a search warrant nor by an exception to the warrant requirement. Instead, the State argued Sgt. Retzki entered Ms. Cooper's home based on her invitation.⁴² In other words, that consent provided the legal mechanism for entering the home.⁴³

As a preliminary matter, Ms. Cooper could not have consented to Sgt. Retzki entering her home. By all indications, she did not know Sgt. Retzki was a law enforcement officer when she "consented" to his entering her home. This was not bona fide consent. Sgt. Retzki did not identify himself as an officer before he sought to enter Ms. Cooper's kitchen. 44 Nor did the State elicit testimony at the motion hearing that demonstrated Ms. Cooper knew she had waved an officer into her home. 45 For example, it was unclear from Sgt. Retzki's testimony whether Ms. Cooper would have been able to see his parked squad vehicle. 46 She certainly did not mention having seen the squad vehicle to him when he first entered the home. 47 Nor did he inform her that he was an officer after he entered the home. 48 He simply walked in, informed her he was investigating the accident, and began

_

⁴² R.62 at 26.

⁴³ R.62 at 26.

⁴⁴ R.62 at 13.

⁴⁵ R.62.

⁴⁶ R.62.

⁴⁷ R.62 at 8.

⁴⁸ R.62 at 13–14.

to question her.⁴⁹ When Officer Krzykowski entered the home at Sgt. Retzki's invitation, this was not consent to entering, either. At that point, Ms. Cooper acquiesced to a display of authority by Sgt. Retzki. Therefore, because it was not bona fide consent in either case, Ms. Cooper did not consent to either officer entering her home. The State may not rely upon consent to justify either officer entering Ms. Cooper's home. Because the police did not obtain a warrant to enter the residence, any evidence seized after this entry must be suppressed.

C. Should this Court find Ms. Cooper consented to the entry into her home, she could not have voluntarily consented.

Under *Bumper v. North Carolina*, where the government relies upon consent to justify a Fourth Amendment search, it must also show "that the consent was, in fact, freely and voluntarily given." Where consent is obtained through a person "acquiesce[ing] to a claim of lawful authority" the person could not have freely and voluntarily consented to the search. These principles must necessarily apply to when a person consents to the police entering a residence, as the police

16

⁴⁹ R.62 at 14.

⁵⁰ Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 548 (1968).

⁵¹ *Id.* at 548–59.

entering a home is an intrusion into a person's privacy interests under the Fourth Amendment.

In examining the voluntariness of a person's consent to a search, the United States Supreme Court in *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte* has held that knowing consent to a search is a factor in considering whether a person voluntarily consented. Though the Supreme Court specifically referred to whether a defendant knew he or she could refuse consent, the principle is the same: whether a person must knowingly decide whether to give consent to a search.

The Supreme Court in *Schneckloth* stated that when the decision to give or not give consent is not knowing, it may also be coerced, "by explicit or implicit means, by implied threat or covert force." Accordingly, a reviewing court must examine "all the surrounding circumstances" of the consent with "the most careful scrutiny" to ensure that the search was not "a pretext for the unjustified police intrusion against which the Fourth Amendment is directed." ⁵⁴

There are several issues with the State's position that Ms. Cooper voluntarily consented to the police's entry into her home.

4

⁵² **Bustamonte**, 412 U.S. at 248–49.

⁵³ *Id.* at 228.

⁵⁴ *Id.* at 228–29.

First, Sgt. Retzki did not identify himself as an officer before he sought to enter Ms. Cooper's home.⁵⁵ Nor did he inform her that he was an officer after he entered the home.⁵⁶ The State argued that because Ms. Cooper did not object to either of the officers entering her home, she freely consented to the two police officers entering.⁵⁷

Though knowingly giving consent is just one factor to consider in analyzing voluntary consent, examining the facts here, Ms. Cooper's consent to the officer's entry into her home was not knowing and was and therefore coerced. If Ms. Cooper wished Sgt. Retzki to enter her residence in his capacity as a police officer, presumably to perform his investigatory duties, why would she later in their contact have repeatedly stated she did not want to participate in the investigation and wanted to walk away?⁵⁸ The answer is that Ms. Cooper would not have consented to a police officer entering her home that night had she known he was an officer.

The circuit court stated Sgt. Retzki "indicated he was on duty" and "he was responding to this as a law enforcement officer." ⁵⁹ Yet Sgt. Retzki's testimony was that he *did not* identify himself as a police

⁵⁵ R.62 at 13.

⁵⁶ R.62 at 13–14.

⁵⁷ R.62 at 26.

⁵⁸ R.62 at 23–24.

⁵⁹ R.62 at 33.

officer.⁶⁰ Sgt. Retzki told Ms. Cooper he was investigating an accident, informed her that her vehicle was damaged, and asked her if she recalled being in an accident.⁶¹ Though the circuit court seems to conclude it was obvious Sgt. Retzki was investigating as a law enforcement officer, it was not in fact clear in what capacity he entered her home. Moreover, other factors demonstrate Ms. Cooper did not voluntarily consent to Sgt. Retzki's entering her home. Given her extraordinarily high blood alcohol concentration, Ms. Cooper likely was not, as something of an understatement, functioning optimally.⁶²

Even if she had not been affected by the vast amount of alcohol she had consumed, the record indicates that Ms. Cooper was in her kitchen alone, and she apparently waved in an unknown man into her home after he knocked on her back door.⁶³ It was not clear from the record that Ms. Cooper knew she was inviting an officer into her home—and as illustrated above, she likely would not have done so.⁶⁴ The unusual behavior of inviting an unknown man into her home, as well as the disregard for potential danger this demonstrates, given that she appeared to be alone at home, indicates Ms. Cooper was likely not

_

⁶⁰ R.62 at 13.

⁶¹ R.62 at 14.

⁶² R.62 at 25.

⁶³ R.62 at 8; R.62 at 13.

⁶⁴ R.62 at 13–14.

thinking clearly that evening.⁶⁵ In all, these factors indicate Ms. Cooper could not have voluntarily consented to the officer's entry into her home. Because her consent to Sgt. Retzki's entering her home was coerced, her consent was involuntary. The State cannot rely upon consent to justify the police's entry.

When Sgt. Retzki allowed Officer Krzykowski into Ms. Cooper's home, that was a further encroachment upon Ms. Cooper's Fourth Amendment rights. There is no indication in the record that Ms. Cooper consented to the second officer entering her home.⁶⁶ There was no testimony given during the motion hearing that she waved the second officer in or otherwise assented to his entering her home.⁶⁷ Accordingly, the State may not rely upon consent for the second officer to bolster its argument that Ms. Cooper voluntarily consented to the police entering her home.

D. At the time Sgt. Retzki entered Ms. Cooper's home, no other exception to the warrant requirement existed to justify the warrantless entry.

Just as the State may rely upon consent as an exception to the warrant requirement to justify entering a person's home, the State may

⁶⁵ R.62 at 8; R.62 at 13–14.

⁶⁶ R.62 at 26.

⁶⁷ R.62 at 26.

also rely upon exigent circumstances. When a police officer enters a person's home to search, he or she needs a warrant based upon probable cause or an exception to the warrant requirement. One possible exception is probable cause and exigent circumstances.⁶⁸ Exigent circumstances may be hot pursuit, a threat to the safety of a person, risk of evidence being destroyed, or the likelihood that the suspect will flee.⁶⁹ In circuit court, the State did not rely upon any exigent circumstances or elicit testimony on any exigency during the motion hearing in Ms. Cooper's case.⁷⁰

At the time Sgt. Retzki entered Ms. Cooper's home, there may have been probable cause to suspect Ms. Cooper of committing a crime, but no exception to the warrant requirement applied to justify the warrantless entry. The information known to Sgt. Retzki was the following: a single vehicle accident had occurred, Ms. Cooper's license plate had been left at the scene, and a person identified Ms. Cooper's residence as the residence of the person involved in the accident. The person also claimed to have witnessed the accident and followed Ms. Cooper to her residence.

_

⁶⁸ State v. Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 19, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W. 2d 187.

⁶⁹ State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 29, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29.

⁷⁰ R.62.

⁷¹ R.62 at 10.

⁷² R.62 at 10.

However, some factors here are unfavorable to the probable cause analysis. To begin with, Sgt. Retzki did not speak with the witness beyond getting the address. The addition, at the time Sgt. Retzki entered Ms. Cooper's home, the police had not spoken with her to begin investigating her for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant. At the time Sgt. Retzki entered Ms. Cooper's home, he was investigating her for a hit-and-run offense, which here was simply a forfeiture. The hit-and-run was a relatively minor single-vehicle accident with no injuries, and in order to definitively tie Ms. Cooper to the offense, Sgt. Retzki needed to speak with her.

Assuming that probable cause existed to suspect Ms. Cooper of committing a crime before Sgt. Retzki entered her home, there were no exigent circumstances here that could justify the warrantless entry. Sgt. Retzki was not engaged in hot pursuit, as he had not immediately and continuously pursued Ms. Cooper from the scene.⁷⁴ Nor would investigating the hit-and-run justify the police's warrantless entry into Ms. Cooper's home, as this was simply an offense for failing to leave name at the scene of the accident at that point.⁷⁵ Nor could he fear that Ms. Cooper would escape, as she was in her home. Furthermore, there

٠

⁷³ R.62 at 10.

⁷⁴ State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 32, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29.

⁷⁵ *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 750 (1984) (holding that though probable cause existed to enter the defendant's home, the relatively minor OWI offense made the presumption of unreasonableness of the entry difficult to rebut).

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