RECEIVED

10-22-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 18 AP 1154 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KATHRYN M. COOPER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON JUNE 13, 2018, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PORTAGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TODD WOLF PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Kristian R. Mukoski Assistant District Attorney State Bar Number 1098597 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Portage County District Attorney's Office 1516 Church St Stevens Point, Wisconsin 54481 (715) 346-1300 kristian.mukoski@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

1. The circuit court correctly held that the police entry into Defendant-Appellant's residence was lawful.

a. Standard of Review

The question of whether a search or seizure is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Kieffer*, 217 Wis.2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352 (1998). When a Fourth Amendment challenge is raised at the trial court level, the trial court considers the evidence, makes findings of evidentiary or historical fact, and then resolved the issue by applying constitutional principles to those historical facts. *State v. Martwick*, 2000 WI 5, ¶¶ 16-17, 231 Wis.2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552. On review, appellate courts give deference to the trial court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact, but determine the question of constitutional fact independently. *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 23, 236 Wis.2d 48, 613 N.W.2d 72.

- b. Legal Argument
 - i. Defendant-Appellant unequivocally and voluntarily consented to police entry into her residence.

"The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect the right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 24, 327 Wis.2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463. Due to the constitutional sanctity of the home, courts have interpreted these provisions to mean that "the police may not venture across the threshold [of a home] without a warrant except under limited circumstances, on pain of suppression." State v. Sobczak, 2013 WI 52, ¶ 11, 347 Wis.2d 724, 833 One such exception - "jealously and N.W.2d 59. carefully drawn" - "recognizes the validity of searches with the voluntary consent of an individual possessing authority." Georgia v. Randolph, 547 U.S. 103, 109, 126 S.Ct. 1515, 164 L.Ed.2d 208 (2006) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The State must establish consent by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Tomlinson, 2002 WI 91, ¶ 21, 254 Wis.2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367.

The uncontroverted testimony at the suppression hearing established by clear and convincing evidence that Defendant-Appellant unequivocally consented to Sgt. Retzki's entry into her residence. Sgt. Retzki testified that while he was "on duty" on January 5, 2017, he responded to Defendant-Appellant's residence in order to investigate a reported accident. (R.62: 4-5). Sgt. Retzki stated that he walked onto Defendant-Appellant's porch and observed Defendant-Appellant walking inside her kitchen. (R.62: 7-8). Sgt. Retzki testified that after he knocked on the back door, Defendant-Appellant "looked at me and just waved, come on in, come on in, so I opened the door and went in" (R.62: 8). Sgt. Retzki later restated his testimony, indicating that Defendant-Appellant "looked and then, come on in. She just yelled." (R.62: 13). Sgt. Retzki also noted that Defendant-Appellant "used big motions, come on in." (R.62: 13). The record reflects that as Sgt. Retzki testified about Defendant-Appellant's motions inviting him into her residence, he reached his

hand out in front of him and waved it backward toward himself as a gesture of invitation into the residence. (R.62: 14).

"Whether the consent was given in fact is a question of historical fact. The findings of the circuit court will be upheld if it is not contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." State v. Blackman, 2017 WI 77, ¶ 55, 377 Wis.2d 339, 898 N.W.2d 774. The circuit court's findings were consistent with the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. Sgt. Retzki's testimony demonstrates that Defendant-Appellant made an unambiguous gesture to Sgt. Retzki signaling her consent to his entry into her residence. As the circuit court noted, "I don't know what more consent one can ask or assume they have if someone tells them to come in, come in, and waves in a motion, the hand coming towards that individual then to come in." (R.62: 34). Accordingly, the circuit court inferred Defendant-Appellant's voluntary consent from her own actions.

Defendant-Appellant asserts that she could not have voluntarily consented to Sgt. Retzki's entry into her home because Sgt. Retzki did not identify himself as a police officer before or after he entered her kitchen, and nothing in the record indicates that Defendant-Appellant was aware that Sgt. Retzki was a police officer. However, Defendant-Appellant's knowledge on this point may be reasonably inferred from the record. As the circuit court emphasized, although "[t]here wasn't testimony here today that [Sgt. Retzki] was in his uniform . . . he indicated he was on duty, [and] he was responding to this as a law enforcement officer . . . " (R.62: 33). That testimony, coupled with the fact that Sgt. Retzki stood approximately ten feet from Defendant-Appellant before he entered her kitchen, was sufficient to establish Defendant-Appellant's knowing consent. (R.62: 33-34). Likewise, as the circuit court noted, Defendant-Appellant did not revoke her consent after Sgt. Retzki walked two to three feet into her kitchen. (R.62: 34). Moreover, Defendant-Appellant did not revoke her consent after Sgt. Retzki clearly identified himself as law enforcement by informing her that he was investigating an accident. (R.62: 14). Defendant-Appellant's failure to take action in opposition to Sgt. Retzki suggests that she had no concerns that Sgt. Retzki was a police officer. (R.62: 34).

Defendant-Appellant also argues that she did not provide Ofc. Krzykowski with consent to enter her residence because he entered at Sgt. Retzki's invitation. However, the evidence indicates that Ofc. Krzykowski had consent to enter the residence for the same reason Sgt. Retzki had consent. Sgt. Retzki testified that after Ofc. Krzykowski came to the back door of the residence, Sgt. Retzki made eye contact with him and "just waved him in." (R.62:9). Ofc. Krzykowski similarly testified that Sgt. Retzki "opened the door" to let him into the residence. (R.62: 18). Because Defendant-Appellant had provided unequivocal consent for one police officer to enter her residence, it may be reasonably inferred that her consent extended to additional officers investigating the same Moreover, as with Sgt. Retzki, Defendantaccident. Appellant did not revoke her consent or otherwise vocalize any objections to Ofc. Krzykowski's presence after he entered her kitchen. Based on those facts, Defendant-Appellant consented to Ofc. Krzykowski's entry into her residence.

ii. Exigent circumstances and the community caretaker function justified warrantless entry into Defendant-Appellant's residence.

Police may also enter a residence without a warrant in the presence of exigent circumstances, which "exist when it would be unreasonable and contrary to public policy to bar law enforcement officers at the door." *State v.*

Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 19, 317 Wis.2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187 (citation and quotations omitted). Four well-recognized categories of exigent circumstances have been held to authorize a law enforcement officer's warrantless entry into a home: (1) hot pursuit of a suspect; (2) a threat to the safety of a suspect or others; (3) a risk that evidence will be destroyed; and (4) a likelihood that the suspect will flee. *Id.* at ¶ 20.

Exigent circumstances existed in the instant case. As Sgt. Retzki testified, he received a call to investigate an accident in which the suspect vehicle ran over a light pole and then fled the scene of the accident, leaving only a license plate at the location of the accident. (R.62: 5). When Sgt. Retzki responded to Defendant-Appellant's residence, an unknown man informed him that he witnessed the accident, followed the suspect vehicle, and observed the vehicle park in Defendant-Appellant's driveway. (R.62: 6, 10). Sgt. Retzki examined the vehicle in Defendant-Appellant's driveway and observed "extensive damage and fluid leaking down." (R.62: 7).

Sgt. Retzki lawfully entered Defendant-Appellant's residence to investigate a threat to the safety of the driver of the suspect vehicle based on the statements made to him by a citizen witness and his observation of "extensive damage" to the suspect vehicle. By entering Defendant-Appellant's residence, Sgt. Retzki was essentially exercising a community caretaker function. "The United States Supreme Court and courts of this state have recognized that a police officer serving as a community caretaker to protect persons and property may be constitutionally permitted to perform warrantless searches and seizures." *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 14, 327 Wis.2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592.

State v. Gracia, 2013 WI 15, 345 Wis.2d 488, 826 N.W.2d 87, is instructive. In that case, the City of

Menasha Police Department received a report of a downed traffic signal impeding traffic. *Id.* at ¶ 6. Officers examined the scene of the accident and determined that a vehicle had struck the signal and then left. Id. Officers also located a mangled license plate belonging to a 1999 Buick Regal LS next to the damaged traffic signal. *Id.* After some investigation, officers arrived at a trailer home belonging to the defendant, Juan Gracia, and found a *Id.* at ¶ 7. Officers Buick Regal in the driveway. observed significant front-end damage to the vehicle, with the front bumper caved in and missing pieces. Id. Gracia's brother eventually arrived at the residence and let the officers into the residence. Id. at \P 8. Gracia's brother then informed officers that Gracia had locked himself in a As officers approached the bedroom, bedroom. Id. Gracia yelled, "Go away." Id. With the assistance of Gracia's brother, officers forced entry into the bedroom and located Gracia lying on the bed. Id. Officers observed Gracia's bloodshot eyes, slurred speech, and the strong odor of intoxicants emanating from Gracia. Id. Gracia admitted to driving the Buick Regal, and officers arrested him for operating a vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant. Id.

On appeal, the Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld the warrantless entry into Gracia's bedroom, determining that the officers reasonably exercised the community caretaker function. *Id.* at ¶ 29. In reaching that conclusion, the court held that the officers had an objectively reasonable basis to believe Gracia was hurt. *Id.* at ¶ 21. The court noted that "the damage at the scene of the accident and to the car observed at Gracia's house was *extensive*." *Id.* at ¶ 22 (emphasis added). The court emphasized that "not only was a traffic signal completely knocked down, but the front end of the vehicle was essentially caved in, pieces of the bumper were left at the scene, and the front license plate was entirely ripped off." *Id.* at ¶ 21.

Like the officers in *Gracia*, Sgt. Retzki also had an objectively reasonable basis to believe Defendant-Appellant was hurt. Just as the officers in *Gracia* observed "extensive" damage to the Buick Regal, Sgt. Retzki observed "extensive damage and fluid leaking down." (R.62: 7). Moreover, just as the accident in Gracia resulted in a traffic signal being knocked down and a license plate being ripped off, the accident in the instant case resulted in a light pole being knocked down and license plate being ripped off. (R.62: 5). Accordingly, by entering Defendant-Appellant's residence, Sgt. Retzki was appropriately responding to exigent circumstances and exercising his community caretaker function.

2. The circuit court correctly held that Defendant-Appellant voluntarily consented to a blood draw.

a. Standard of Review

Appellate review of an order granting or denying a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 27, 359 Wis.2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. An appellate court will uphold a circuit court's findings of fact unless those findings are clearly erroneous, but will conduct an independent, de novo analysis of the application of constitutional principles to the facts found. *Robinson*, 2010 WI at ¶ 22.

b. Legal Argument

Defendant-Appellant's consent to blood testing was voluntary.

Blood draws constitute searches under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *Blackman*, 2017 WI at ¶ 53. Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable and are unlawful, subject to a few "clearly

delineated" exceptions, such as a search conducted pursuant to consent. *State v. Artic*, 2010 WI 83, ¶ 29, 327 Wis.2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430. In order to establish that a blood draw was consensual, the State must prove by clear and convincing evidence that consent to the blood draw was "given in fact by words, gestures, or conduct," and that the consent was "voluntary." *Id.* at ¶ 30.

Under Wisconsin's Implied Consent Law, "[a]ny person who . . . drives or operates a motor vehicle upon the public highways of this state . . . is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath, blood or urine, for the purpose of determining the presence or quantity in his or her blood or breath, of alcohol . . . when requested to do so by a law enforcement officer" Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2). An officer may request a blood sample from a suspect upon an arrest for operating a vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a). Prior to the blood draw, an officer must read the suspect the Informing the Accused, which conveys statutory information regarding the reason for the blood draw and the civil and evidentiary penalties faced upon refusal of the blood draw. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4). As the United States Supreme Court has held:

It is well established that a search is reasonable when the subject consents, and that sometimes consent to a search need not be express but may fairly inferred from context.... Our prior opinions have referred approvingly to the general concept of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply. *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2185, 195 L. Ed. 2d 560 (2016).

Defendant-Appellant's actions, in conjunction with her implied consent pursuant to Wisconsin law, establish by clear and convincing evidence that she consented to the blood draw. Ofc. Krzykowski testified that after Defendant-Appellant was arrested for OWI, he read her the Informing the Accused verbatim. (R.62: 20). Ofc. Krzykowski further testified that Defendant-Appellant agreed to the blood draw following that reading. (R.62: 21). Nothing in the record suggests that Defendant-Appellant was unable to understand the Informing the Accused or that Ofc. Krzykowski conveyed false or misleading information in order to secure Defendant-Appellant's consent.

"Whether the consent was given in fact is a question of historical fact. The findings of the circuit court will be upheld if it is not contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *Blackman*, 2017 WI at ¶ 55. The findings of the circuit court are consistent with the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. The court noted:

I didn't find any reason here that there has been any evidence that [Ms. Cooper] was – had any sort of trickery or deception or misrepresentation. The officer indicated he went through the Informing the Accused with her, read the Informing the Accused verbatim, and that there was no indication and no contrary evidence to say that she didn't at that point in time agree, which I agree, really, is a continuation of her previous implied consent here, and that there was no indication she was deprived of any sleep or food or anything such as that.

There was no indication the officers on that night that she wasn't able to understand what she was being read. She answered the question. There was no hesitation. She wished to talk to her husband, was brought out by the officer, a very rational thing someone might ask to do, which actually was emphasized here in the defense argument, was part of the reason she was willing to perform the testing. They went through the testing procedure. The officers appeared to do nothing to deceive her or trick her, and for all of those reasons . . ., I do find that the consent was voluntary (R.62: 40-41).

As such, Defendant-Appellant's affirmative consent to the blood draw negated the need for a warrant.

CONCLUSION

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